

Tamworth Borough

Council



Statement of Policy and Guidelines for the Licensing of Scrap Metal Dealers

2024 - 2028

Page 37

Contents

Section		
1	Introduction	
2	Types of Licence	
3	Suitability of Applicant	
4	Application Procedure	
5	Revocation of Licence/Imposing of Conditions	
6	Supply of Information by Authority	
7	Register of Licences	
8	Notification Requirements	
9	Display of Licence	
10	Verification of Suppliers Identity	
10	Payment for Scrap Metal	
12	Records: Receipt of Metal	
13	Records: Disposal of Metal	
14	Records: Supplementary	
15	Right of Entry & Inspection	
16	Closure of Unlicensed Sites	
Annex A	Prescribed Relevant Offences and Relevant	
	Enforcement Action	
Annex B	Code of Practice for Scrap Metal Dealers	

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Policy

1.1.1 This document sets out Tamworth Borough Council's policy on the regulation of Scrap Metal Dealers in its capacity as the relevant local authority for the purposes of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (and the expressions "Tamworth Borough Council" and "local authority" shall be construed accordingly).

1.2 The Law

1.2.1 The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 ("the Act") received Royal Assent on 28 February 2013. The Act repeals the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964 (and linked legislation) and Part 1 of Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001 creating a revised regulatory regime for the scrap metal recycling and vehicle dismantling industries.

The Act maintains local authorities as the principal regulator, but replaces the old registration system with a full licensing regime. It grants power to refuse a licence to "unsuitable" applicants and a power to revoke licences if the dealer becomes "unsuitable".

The Act requires a scrap metal dealer to obtain a licence in order to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer.

1.3 Definition of a Scrap Metal Dealer

- 1.3.1 A person carries on business as a scrap metal dealer if:
 - (a) They wholly or partly buy or sell scrap metal (whether or not sold in the form it was bought); or
 - (b) They carry on business as a motor salvage operator (see 1.3.3).
- 1.3.2 Ancillary sales a person selling scrap metal merely as surplus materials or as a by-product of manufacturing articles is NOT regarded as a scrap metal dealer.
- 1.3.3 Motor salvage operation is defined in the Act as a business that consists wholly or mainly of:
 - (a) Recovering salvageable parts from motor vehicles for re-use or sale and selling the remainder of the vehicle for scrap

- (b) Buying written-off vehicles, repairing and reselling them
- (c) Buying or selling motor vehicles which are to be the subject of any of the activities mentioned in (a) or (b)
- (d) Wholly or mainly in activities falling within paragraphs (b) and (c)
- 1.3.4 Scrap metal includes:
 - (a) Any old, waste or discarded metal or metallic material, and
 - (b) Any product, article or assembly which is made from or contains metal and is broken, worn out or regarded by its last holder as having reached the end of its useful life.
- 1.3.5 Scrap metal does not include:
 - (a) Gold
 - (b) Silver
 - (c) Any alloy of which 2% or more by weight is attributable to gold or silver

2 TYPES OF LICENCE

- 2.1 Anyone wishing to operate a business as a scrap metal dealer will require:
 - I. A site licence, or
 - II. A collector's licence.

The licence is valid for three years and permits the licence holder to operate within the boundaries of Tamworth Borough.

A person may hold more than one licence issued by different local authorities but may not hold more than one licence issued by any one authority.

2.2 SITE LICENCE

- 2.2.1 The site licence authorises the licensee to carry on business at the site(s) identified in the licence.
- 2.2.2 The site licence must include:
 - (a) Name of the licensee
 - (b) Name of the authority
 - (c) Identify all the sites in the authority's area at which the licensee is authorised to carry on business

- (d) Name of the site manager of each site
- (e) Date of expiry
- 2.2.3 The site licence also permits the licence holder to act as a collector.

2.3 COLLECTOR'S LICENCE

- 2.3.1 The collector's licence authorises the licensee to carry on business as a mobile collector within the authority's area.
- 2.3.2 The collector's licence must include:
 - (a) Name of the licensee
 - (b) Name of the authority
 - (c) Date of expiry

3 SUITABILITY OF APPLICANT

- 3.1 The local authority must determine whether an applicant is a suitable person to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer and may not issue a licence unless satisfied that the applicant is suitable.
- 3.2 In determining this, the authority may have regard to any information which it considers to be relevant, in particular:
 - (a) Whether the applicant or site manager has been convicted of any relevant offence;
 - (b) Whether the applicant or site manager has been the subject of any relevant enforcement action;
 - (c) Any previous refusal of an application for the issue or renewal of a scrap metal licence (and the reasons for the refusal);
 - (d) Any previous refusal of an application for a relevant environmental permit or registration (and the reasons for the refusal);
 - (e) Any previous revocation of a scrap metal licence (and the reasons for the revocation);
 - (f) Whether the applicant has demonstrated that there will be in place adequate procedures to ensure that the provisions of this Act are complied with.
- 3.3 In this section:

- (a) "Site manager" means an individual proposed to be named in the licence as a site manager
- (b) "Relevant offence" means an offence which is prescribed for the purposes of the Act in regulations made by the Secretary of State
- (c) "Relevant enforcement action" means enforcement action which is so prescribed by regulations.

The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (Prescribed Relevant Offences and Relevant Enforcement Action) Regulations 2013 at Annex A provides a list of the relevant offences and relevant enforcement action that the council may have regard to when determining the suitability of an applicant.

- 3.4 In determining whether a company is suitable to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer, a local authority is to have regard, in particular, to whether any of the following is a suitable person:
 - (a) Any director of the company
 - (b) Any secretary of the company
 - (c) Any shadow director of the company (that is to say, any person in accordance with those directions or instructions the directors of the company are accustomed to act)
- 3.5 In determining whether a partnership is suitable to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer, a local authority is to have regard, in particular, to whether each of the partners is a suitable person.
- 3.6 The authority must also have regard to any guidance on determining suitability which is issued from time to time by the Secretary of State
- 3.7 The authority may consult other persons regarding the suitability of an applicant, including in particular:
 - (a) Any other local authority;
 - (b) The Environment Agency;
 - (c) An officer of a police force;
- 3.8 If the applicant or any site manager has been convicted of a relevant offence, the authority may include in the licence one or both of the following conditions:

- (a) That the dealer must not receive scrap metal except between 9am and 5pm on any day;
- (b) That all scrap metal received must be kept in the form in which it is received for a specified period, not exceeding 72 hours, beginning with the time when it is received.
- 3.9 In assessing an applicant's suitability the council can consider any other information it considers relevant including the applicant's behaviour in the operation of their business or the details of any relevant convictions that may be spent.

Code of Practice

3.10 In relation to all considerations of possible revocation or variation and all applications for grant or renewal of a licence the authority shall consider the suitability of the applicant or licence holder with regard to adherence or otherwise by the licence holder or any other person identified in the licence to the Code of Practice annexed to this policy at Annex B or the applicant's willingness to adhere to the Code of Practice or to any other relevant body or licensing authority's Code of Practice in the case of a first application. Failure to adhere to the Code of Practice shall be considered particularly relevant to the suitability of the applicant or licence holder to hold a licence.

Without prejudice to the above, where an officer of the Council has reason to believe that a licence is not being operated in accordance with the Code of Practice but it is in that officer's opinion reasonable to deal with the cause of complaint by way of a written warning or further written warning then the matter may be dealt with by written warning to the licence holder.

Where a licence holder has received a second written warning from an officer of the Council then the licence holder shall be asked to meet with the appropriate officer of the Council to discuss the reasons for the issue of the previous written warnings and the officer shall warn the licence holder that the licence shall be subject to revocation should there be any repetition of the matter of complaint, on the basis that the licence holder is no longer considered to be suitable to hold a licence.

Where an officer of the Council has reason to believe that there are grounds for issuing a third written warning then the relevant licence holder shall be presumed by the Council to be an unsuitable person to hold a licence, subject to any representation from the licence holder that there may be exceptional circumstances to justify the circumstances of the failure to remedy the cause of complaint.

4. APPLICATION PROCEDURE

4.1 Term of Licence

A licence is valid for three years beginning from the day it is issued. A renewal application must be received prior to the licence expiry.

If withdrawn the licence expires at the end of the day of withdrawal.

If refused, the licence expires when no appeal is possible or any such appeal is finally determined or withdrawn.

If renewed, the licence expires at the end of the three year period from the date of the renewal.

4.2 Application

The application form, available from the Licensing Team, should be accompanied by:

- a) Full name of applicant (if an individual), date of birth and usual place of residence
- b) Name and registered number of the applicant (if a company) and registered office
- c) If a partnership full name of each partner, date of birth and usual place of residence
- d) Proposed trading name
- e) Telephone number and email address (if any) of applicant
- f) Address of any site within any other local authority at which carry on business as a scrap metal dealer or propose to do so
- g) Any relevant environmental permit or registration in relation to the applicant
- h) Details of any other scrap metal licence issued to the applicant within a period of 3 years ending with the date of the application.
- i) Details of the bank account which is proposed to be used in order to comply with section 11
- Details of any relevant conviction or enforcement action taken against the applicant.

For site licence, the applicant must also provide:

- a) The address of each site proposed to be identified in the licence (or if renewal, each site identified for which renewal is sought)
- b) The full name, date of birth and usual place of residence of each individual proposed to be named in the licence as a site manager (other than the applicant).
- c) Site manager details to be included for (g) (h) and (j) above

Please note the collectors licence allows a business or individual to operate only within that authority's area, therefore individuals wishing to collect across borders will be required to obtain a collectors licence from the relevant local authority where they wish to collect and sell.

All applicants are required to provide a basic disclosure of criminal convictions with the application. This can be applied for through Disclosure Scotland at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service</u>. Further information about other ways to apply can be obtained by calling Disclosure and Barring Service on 03000 200 190.

Certified copies of the disclosure certificate will be sufficient to allow for the fact that applicants who wish to apply in other authorities. To certify a document applicants should ask a professional person such as: a bank or building society official, councillor, dentist, police officer, solicitor or teacher. Persons related to the applicant, living at the same address or in a relationship with the applicant are not permitted persons to certify the disclosure certificate. In order to certify a certificate the applicant should take the photocopied document and the original to the professional person and ask the person to certify the copy by:

- Writing 'certified to be a true copy of the original seen by me' on the document
- Signing and dating it
- Printing their name under the signature
- Adding their occupation, address and telephone number.

Licensing authorities must carry out certain checks on applications from individuals, companies and any type of partnership to make sure they are aware of their tax responsibilities - if a new applicant - or have completed a tax check (for renewal applicants).

If you're an individual, company or any type of partnership you must complete a tax check if you're:

- renewing a licence
- applying for the same type of licence you previously held, that ceased to be valid less than a year ago
- applying for the same type of licence you already hold with another licensing authority

You can <u>complete this tax check here</u>. You will get a tax share code which you'll need to give us as part of your application. We'll use this code to receive confirmation from HMRC that you've completed the tax check. We will not have access to information about your tax affairs.

You will not need to complete a tax check if you have:

- never held a licence of the same type before
- had a licence of the same type that ceased to be valid a year or more before making this application

However you must still make yourself aware of the tax obligations by using the following website addresses. You will be required to confirm this awareness to us when making your application

4.3 Variation of Licence

A licence may be varied from one type to the other. A variation application must be made to reflect changes to:

- o Site licence the name of licensee, the sites, site manager
- Collector's licence name of licensee

The variation can amend the name of the licensee but cannot transfer the licence to another person.

Application is to be made to the issuing authority and contain particulars of the changes to be made to the licence.

4.4 Renewal

When a licence is renewed the three year validity period commences on the day of receipt. Should a renewal application be withdrawn, the licence expires at the end of the day on which the application is withdrawn.

Where a renewal application has been refused – the licence expires when no appeal has been made under paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of the Act or any

such appeal has resulted in confirmation of the refusal.

4.5 Further Information

The Council may request (at the time of application or later) that additional information is provided, as may be considered relevant for the purpose of considering the application.

Failure to provide such information may result in the application being declined.

4.6 Fee

The application must be accompanied by the fee set by the Council, under guidance from the Secretary of State with the approval of the Treasury.

4.7 Right to Make Representations

If the Council proposes to refuse an application or to revoke/vary a licence a notice shall be issued to the applicant/licensee setting out what the authority proposes to do and the reasons for this. The notice shall also state that within the period specified the applicant/licensee can either:

- a) Make representations about the proposal, or
- b) Inform the authority that the applicant/licensee wishes to do so.

The period specified in the notice shall be not less than 14 days beginning with the date on which the notice is given to the applicant/licensee. Within this time the applicant/licensee must notify the Council whether the applicant / licensee wishes to make representations. Should this period expire and the applicant/licensee has not made representations or informed the authority of their wish to do so the authority may refuse the application, or revoke or vary the licence.

If, within the period specified, the applicant/licensee informs the authority that they wish to make representations, the authority shall allow a reasonable period to make representations and may refuse the application or revoke or vary the licence if they fail to make representations within that period.

If the applicant/licensee notifies the authority that they wish to make oral representations, the authority shall give them the opportunity of appearing before, and being heard by a panel of two Council Officers selected from the Assistant Director – Growth & Regeneration, Head of Environmental Health, Senior Licensing Officer along with a legal advisor.

4.8 Notice of Decision

If the application is refused, or the licence is revoked or varied, notice shall be given to the applicant/licensee setting out the decision and the reasons for it. The notice shall also state that the applicant/licensee may appeal against the decision, the time within which the appeal may be brought (21 days beginning with the day on which notice of the decision was given) and, if revoked or varied, the date on which the revocation or variation is to take effect.

4.9 Appeals

An applicant may appeal to a magistrates' court against the refusal of an application or a variation. The licensee may appeal to a magistrates' court against the inclusion in a licence of a condition under Section 3(8) of the Act or the revocation or variation of a licence.

An appeal must be made within 21 days beginning on the day the notice to refuse the application, to include the condition or to revoke or vary the licence under section 4 was given.

On appeal, the magistrates' court may confirm, vary or reverse the authority's decision, and give such directions as it considers appropriate having regard to the provisions of the Act.

The authority must comply with any directions given by the magistrates' court. Although the authority need not comply with such directions until the time for making an application under section 111 of the Magistrates' Courts Act 1980 has passed or if such an application is made, until the application is finally determined or withdrawn.

5 REVOCATION OF LICENCE/IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS

- 5.1 The authority may revoke a scrap metal licence if it is satisfied that the licensee does not carry on the business of scrap metal dealing at any of the sites identified in the licence.
- 5.2 The authority may revoke a licence if it is satisfied that a site manager named in the licence does not act as site manager at any of the sites identified in the licence.
- 5.3 The authority may revoke a licence if it is no longer satisfied that the licensee is a suitable person to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer and the authority shall have particular regard to any "relevant offences" and "relevant enforcement action" and to those matters contained in paragraphs 3.10 of this policy.

- 5.4 If the licensee or any site manager named in a licence is convicted of a relevant offence, the authority may vary the licence by adding one or both of the conditions set out in paragraph 3.8.
- 5.6 A revocation or variation comes into effect when no appeal under paragraph 16.9 is possible in relation to the revocation or variation, or when any such appeal is finally determined or withdrawn.
- 5.7 If the authority considers that the licence should not continue in force without conditions, it may by notice provide:
 - (a) That, until a revocation comes into effect, the licence is subject to one or both of the conditions set out in paragraph 3.8, or
 - (b) That a variation under this paragraph comes into effect immediately.
- 5.8 All licences issued by the Council pursuant to the Act remain the physical property of the Council and must be returned to the Council as required on expiry or revocation of the relevant licence or copy licence. Action may be taken for the recovery of any licence not returned as required by the Council and any such action may be taken into account in relation to any future application for a licence.
- 5.9 All reference in this policy to copy licences shall be construed as original copies officially endorsed and issued by the Council as the licensing authority.

6. SUPPLY OF INFORMATION BY AUTHORITY

- 6.1 This section applies to information which has been supplied to a local authority under this Act and relates to a scrap metal licence or to an application for or relating to a licence.
- 6.2 The local authority must supply any such information to any of the following persons who request it for purposes relating to this Act:
 - (a) Any other local authority;
 - (b) The Environment Agency;
 - (c) An officer of a police force.
- 6.3 This section does not limit any other power the authority has to supply that information.

7. REGISTER OF LICENCES

7.1 The Environment Agency maintains a register of scrap metal licences issued by authorities in England and each entry must record:

- (a) The name of the authority which issued the licence
- (b) The name of the licensee
- (c) Any trading name of the licensee
- (d) The address of the site identified in the licence
- (e) The type of licence, and
- (f) The date on which the licence is due to expire
- 7.2 The registers are to open for inspection to the public

8. NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

- 8.1 An applicant for a scrap metal licence, or for the renewal of variation of a licence, must notify the authority to which the application was made of any changes which materially affect the accuracy of the information which the applicant has proved in connection with the application.
- 8.2 A licensee who is not carrying on business as a scrap metal dealer in the area of the authority which issued the licence must notify the authority within 28 days.
- 8.3 If a licence is issued to a business under a trading name the licensee must notify the authority which issued the licence of any change to that name within 28 days.
- 8.4 The authority must notify the Environment Agency, of
 - (a) any notification given to the authority under paragraph 8.2 or 8.3
 - (b) any variation made by the authority under paragraph 16.3 (variation of type of licence or matters set out in licence), and
 - (c) any revocation by the authority of a licence
- 8.5 Notification under paragraph 8.4 must be given within 28 days of the notification, variation or revocation in question.

9. DISPLAY OF LICENCE

- 9.1 A copy of a site licence must be displayed at each site identified in the licence. The copy must be displayed in a prominent place in an area accessible to the public.
- 9.2 A copy of a collector's licence must be displayed on any vehicle that is being used in the course of the dealer's business. This must be displayed in a

manner which enables it easily to be read by a person outside the vehicle.

10. VERIFICATION OF SUPPLIER'S IDENTITY

10.1 Prior to receiving scrap metal the scrap metal dealer must verify the person's full name and address by reference to documents, data or other information obtained from a reliable and independent source.

Should verification not be gained then each of the following are guilty of an offence:

- (a) The scrap metal dealer
- (b) If metal is received at the site, the site manager
- (c) Any person who, under arrangements made by a person within subparagraph (a) or (b), has responsibility for verifying the name and address.

11. PAYMENT FOR SCRAP METAL

- 11.1 A scrap metal dealer must only pay for scrap metal by either:
 - (a) A cheque (which is not transferrable under Section 81A Bills of Exchange Act 1882); or
 - (b) Electronic transfer of funds (authorised by a credit, debit card or otherwise)

Payment includes paying in kind – with goods or services.

12. RECORDS: RECEIPT OF METAL

- 12.1 If any metal is received in the course of the dealer's business the dealer must record the following information:
 - (a) Description of the metal, including its type (types if mixed), form, condition, weight and any marks identifying previous owners or other distinguishing features
 - (b) Date and time of receipt
 - (c) The registration mark of the vehicle delivered by
 - (d) Full name and address of person delivering it
 - (e) Full name of the person making payment on behalf of the dealer
- 12.2 The dealer must keep a copy of any documents used to verify the name and address of the person delivering the metal.

- 12.3 If payment is made via cheque, the dealer must retain a copy of the cheque.
- 12.4 If payment is made via electronic transfer, the dealer must keep a receipt identifying the transfer, or (if no receipt identifying the transfer) record particulars identifying the transfer.

13. RECORDS: DISPOSAL OF METAL

- 13.1 The Act regards the metal to be disposed of:
 - (a) Whether or not in the same form it was purchased,
 - (b) Whether or not the disposal is to another person
 - (c) Whether or not the metal is despatched from a site
- 13.2 Where the disposal is in the course of business under a site licence, the following must be recorded:
 - (a) Description of the metal, including its type (or types if mixed), form and weight
 - (b) Date and time of disposal
 - (c) If to another person, their full name and address
 - (d) If payment is received for the metal (by sale or exchange) the price or other consideration received
- 13.3 If disposal is in the course of business under a collector's licence, the dealer must record the following information:
 - (a) The date and time of the disposal
 - (b) If to another person, their full name and address

14. RECORDS: SUPPLEMENTARY

- 14.1 The information in paragraphs 11 and 12 must be recorded in a manner which allows the information and the scrap metal to which it relates to be readily identified by reference to each other.
- 14.2 The records mentioned in paragraph 11 must be marked so as to identify the scrap metal to which they relate.
- 14.3 Records must be kept for a period of 3 years beginning with the day on which the metal is received or (as may be the case) disposed of.
- 14.4 If a scrap metal dealer fails to fulfil a requirement under paragraph 11 or 12 or this paragraph each of the following is guilty of an offence by way of section

15 of the Act:

- (a) The scrap metal dealer
- (b) If the metal is received at or (as the case may be) despatched from a site, the site manager
- (c) Any person who, under arrangements made by a person within paragraph (a) or (b) has responsibility for fulfilling the requirement.
- 14.5 It is a defence for a person within who is charged with an offence under section 15 of the Act to prove that the person:
 - (a) Made arrangements to ensure that the requirement was fulfilled, and
 - (b) Took all reasonable steps to ensure that those arrangements were complied with

15. RIGHT OF ENTRY & INSPECTION

- 15.1 A constable or an officer of the Council may enter and inspect a licensed site at any reasonable time on notice to the site manager.
- 15.2 A constable or an officer of the Council may enter and inspect a licensed site at any reasonable time, otherwise than on notice to the site manager, if
 - (a) Reasonable attempts to give notice have been made and failed, or
 - (b) Entry to the site is reasonably required for the purpose of ascertaining whether the provisions of this Act are being complied with or investigating offences under it and (in either case) the giving of the notice would defeat that purpose.
- 15.3 Paragraphs 14.1 and 14.2 do not apply to residential premises.
- 15.4 A constable or an officer of the Council is not entitled to use force to enter premises in the exercise of the powers identified in paragraphs 15.1 and 15.2.
- 15.5 A justice of the peace may issue a warrant authorising entry in accordance with section 16 of the Act to any premises within paragraph 15.6 if the justice is satisfied by information on oath that there are reasonable grounds for believing that entry to the premises is reasonably required for the purpose of:
 - (a) Securing compliance with the provisions of the Act, or
 - (b) Ascertaining whether those provisions are being complied with

- 15.6 Premises are within this paragraph if
 - (a) The premises are a licensed site, or
 - (b) The premises are not a licensed site but there are reasonable grounds for believing that the premises are being used by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business.
- 15.8 A constable or an officer of the Council may, if necessary, use reasonable force in the exercise of the powers under a warrant under section 16 of the Act.
- 15.9 A constable or an officer of the Council may:
 - (a) Require production of, and inspect, any scrap metal kept at any premises mentioned in paragraphs 14.1 or 14.2 or in a warrant under section 16.
 - (b) Require production of, and inspect, any records kept in accordance with section 13 or 14 of the Act and any other records relating to payment for scrap metal
 - (c) Take copies of or extracts from any such records.
- 15.10 Officers of the Council will undertake where reasonable and practicable to give a notice of their powers and your rights on entry to any site licensed pursuant to the Act and the licence holder, site managers and other operatives should note that officers may use recording to assist them in their duties whilst on site.

16. CLOSURE OF UNLICENSED SITES

16.1 Interpretation

A person with an interest in premises is the owner, leaseholder or occupier of the premises.

16.2 Closure Notice

These are not applicable if the premises are residential premises.

A constable or the local authority must be satisfied that the premises are being used by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business and that the premises are not a licensed site.

In such circumstances a "closure notice" may be issued by a constable or local authority which states they are satisfied of the above, the reasons for that, that the constable or local authority may apply to the court for a closure order and the notice shall specify the steps which may be taken to ensure that the alleged use of the premises ceases.

The notice shall be given to the person who appears to be the site manager of the premises and any person who appears to be a director, manager or other officer of the business in question. The notice may also be given to any person who has an interest in the premises.

The notice shall be given to a person who occupies another part of any building or structure of which the premises form part and the constable or local authority believes at the time of giving the notice, that the person's access to that other part would be impeded if a closure order were made in respect of the premises.

16.3 Cancellation of Closure Notice

A "cancellation notice" issued by a constable of local authority may cancel a closure notice. This takes effect when it is given to any one of the persons to whom the closure notice was given. This must also be given to any other person to whom the closure notice was given.

16.4 Application for Closure Order

When a closure notice has been given, a constable or the local authority shall make a complaint to a justice of the peace for a closure order. This may not be made less than 7 days after the date on which the closure notice was given or more than 6 months after that date.

A complaint under this paragraph may not be made if the constable or authority is satisfied that the premises are not (or are no longer) being used by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business and there is no reasonable likelihood that the premises will be so used in the future.

16.5 Closure Order

A closure order requires that a premises be closed immediately to the public and remain closed until a constable or the local authority makes a termination of closure order by certificate, the use of the premises by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business be discontinued immediately and that any defendant pay into court such sum as the court determines and that the sum will not be released by the court to that person until the other requirements of the order are met.

The closure order may include a condition relating to the admission of persons into the premises, the access by persons to another part of any building or other structure of which the premises form part.

A closure order may include such provision as the court considers appropriate for dealing with the consequences if the order should cease to have effect.

As soon as practicable after the closure order is made, the complainant must fix a copy of it in a conspicuous position on the premises in respect of which it was made.

A sum ordered to be paid into court under a closure order is to be paid to the designated officer for the court.

16.6 Termination of Closure Order by Certificate

Once a closure order has been made and a constable or the local authority is satisfied that the need for the order has ceased a certificate may be issued.

This ceases the closure order and any sum paid into a court is to be released by the court to the defendant.

As soon as is practicable after making a certificate, a constable or local authority must give a copy to any person against whom the closure order was made, give a copy to the designated officer for the court which made the order and fix a copy of it in a conspicuous position on the premises in respect of which the order was made.

A copy of the certificate must be given to any person who requests one.

16.7 Discharge of Closure Order by Court

A closure order may be discharged by complaint to a justice of the peace. This can be done by any person to whom the relevant closure notice was given or any person who has an interest in the premises but to whom the closure notice was not given.

The court will make a discharge order if it is satisfied that there is no longer a need for the closure order. The justice may issue a summons directed to a constable as the justice considers appropriate or the local authority, requiring that person appear before the magistrates' court to answer to the complaint.

If a summons is issued, notice of the date, time and place at which the complaint will be heard must be given to all persons to whom the closure notice was given (other than the complainant).

16.8 Appeal in relation to Closure Orders

Appeal may be made to the Crown Court against:

a) A closure order

- b) A decision not to make a closure order
- c) A discharge order
- d) A decision not to make a discharge order

The appeal must be made before the end of 21 days beginning with the day on which the order or decision in question was made.

An appeal under (a) or (b) may be made by any person to whom the relevant closure notice was given or any person who has an interest in the premises but to whom the closure notice was not given.

An appeal under (b) or (c) may be made by a constable or the local authority.

6.9 Enforcement of Closure Order

A person is guilty of an offence, if without reasonable excuse they permit premises to be open in contravention of a closure order, or fail to comply with, or do an act in contravention of a closure order.

If the closure order has been made, a constable or a person authorised by the local authority may (if necessary using reasonable force) enter the premises at any reasonable time, and having entered the premises, do anything reasonably necessary for the purpose of securing compliance with the order.

If the owner, occupier or other person in charge of the premises requires the office to produce evidence of identity or evidence of authority to exercise powers, the officer must produce that evidence.

Annex A

CRIMINAL LAW

SCRAP METAL DEALERS

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (Prescribed Relevant Offences and Relevant Enforcement Action) Regulations 2013

Citation, commencement and interpretation

- (1) These regulations may be cited as the Scrap Metal DealersAct 2013 (Prescribed Relevant Offences and Relevant Enforcement Action) Regulations 2013 and shall come into force on 1st October 2013.
 - (2) In these Regulations -

"environment –related offence" means an offence which relates to the transportation, shipment or transfer of waste, or to the prevention, minimisation or control of pollution of the air, water or land which may give rise to any harm:

"harm" means:

- (i) Harm to the health of human beings or other living organisms;
- (ii) Harm to the quality of the environment;
- (iii) Offence to the senses of human beings;
- (iv) Damage to property; or
- (v) Impairment of, or interference with, amenities or other legitimate uses of the environment.

Relevant offences

- 2. For the purposes of section 3(3)(b) of the Scrap metal Dealers Act 2013, "relevant offence" means any offence specified in the Schedule to these Regulations, and includes an offence of
 - a. Attempting or conspiring to commit any offence falling within the Schedule;
 - b. Inciting or aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring the commission of any offence falling within the Schedule, and

c. An offence under Part 2 of the Serious Crime Act 2007 (a) (encouraging or assisting crime) committed in relation to any offence falling within the Schedule.

Relevant enforcement action

- **3.** For the purposes of section 3(3)(c) of the Scrap Metal dealers Act 2013, a person is the subject of "relevant enforcement action" if
 - a. The person has been charged with an offence specified in the Schedule to these Regulations, and the criminal proceedings in respect of that offence have not yet concluded; or
 - b. An environment permit granted in respect of the person under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 (b) has been revoked in whole, or partially revoked, to the extent that the permitno longer authorises the recovery of metal.

SCHEDULE

PART 1

Primary Legislation

- a) An offence under section 1, 5 or 7 of the Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989
- b) An offence under section 170 or 170B of the Customs and Excise Management Act 1979, where the specific offence concerned relates to scrap metal
- c) An offence under section 110 of the Environment Act 1990
- d) An offence under sections 33, 34 or 34B of the environmental Protection Act 1990
- e) An offence under section 9 of the Food and Environmental Protection Act 1985
- f) An offence under section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006, where the specific offence concerned relates to scrap metal, or is an environment-related offence
- g) An offence under section 146 of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012
- h) An offence under sections 327, 328 or 330 to 332 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
- i) Any offence under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964

- j) Any offence under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
- k) An offence under sections 1, 8, 9, 11, 17, 18, 22 or 25 of the Theft Act 1968, where the specific offence concerned relates to scrap metal, or is an environment-related offence
- I) Any offence under Part 1 of the Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001
- m) An offence under sections 85, 202 or 206 of the Water resources Act 1991

PART 1

Secondary Legislation

- a) An offence under regulation 38 of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2007
- b) An offence under regulation 38 of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010
- c) Any offence under the Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005
- d) Any offence under the Hazardous Waste (Wales) Regulations 2005
- e) An offence under regulation 17(1) of the Landfill (England and Wales) Regulations 2002
- f) Any offence under the Pollution Prevention and Control (England and Wales) Regulations 2000
- g) Any offence under the Producer Responsibility (Packaging Waste) Regulations 2007
- h) Any offence under the Transfrontier Shipment of Waste Regulations 1994
- i) Any offence under the Transfrontier Shipment of Waste Regulations 2007
- Any offence under the Waste (Electrical and Electronic Equipment) Regulations 2006
- k) An offence under regulation 42 of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011

Annex B Code of Practice for Scrap Metal Dealers.

All scrap metal dealers and merchants signing up to this Code agree to abide by the following requirements:

- a) All reasonable steps will be taken to ensure stolen metals are not bought.
- b) Metals will only be accepted from those whose ID has been/can be verified as required by the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
- c) No payment shall be made to any person other than the person as identified on the scrap metal collector's licence displayed on the vehicle where metals are produced by a licensed scrap metal collector.
- d) Staff must be trained in administrative processes and all paperwork should be relevant and kept up-to-date.
- e) Dealers will co-operate with police and local authorities by allowing access and inspection when requested.
- f) No blackened copper wire that has obviously had its insulation removed should be bought.
- g) Metals will not be accepted from customers on foot.
- h) Metal will not be accepted from customers arriving in taxis or private hire vehicles.
- i) Dealers will display prominent signage at their premises stating that "We report suspected metal thieves to the Police".
- j) In order to comply with the Act's requirements concerning record keeping and identification no metals shall be received without at a minimum taking and retaining a digital photograph(s) of the scrap metal load as presented, cross-referenced with the appropriate waste transfer note.
- bealers shall have available and actively use UV torches for detecting forensically marked metals.
- I) Suspicious persons will be reported to the local police force for the area concerned.
- m) Suspicious transactions will be reported to the local police force for the area concerned.
- n) Dealers will work towards adopting into an electronic 'alert' notification scheme for early notification of stolen metals.
- All scrap metal dealers agree to work towards installing automatic number plate recognition cameras or police approved CCTV systems at site entrances and/or weighbridges. (Where such systems have been installed posters advertising the fact will clearly be displayed on the premises).
- p) Scrap metal collectors will not cause nuisance or unreasonable disturbance to residents in the locality.

This page is intentionally left blank